
United N atioM 

GENERAL 
ASSEMBLY 
TENTH SESSION 
Oflicial Record& 

CONTENTS 

Agenda item 30 : 
Question of South \Vest Africa (continued): 

(b) Report of the Committee on South \Vest Africa 

Pag~ 

(continued) . . . . • . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 171) 
Agenda item 13: 

Report of the Trusteeship Council (continued) . . . . . 180 
Agenda item 30 : 

Question of South \Vest Africa (continued): 
(b) Report of the Committee on South \\'est Africa 

(continued) . . . . . . . . . . . . . • . . . . . • . . • . . . . • . . . . . 1 RO 

Chairman: Mr. Luciano JOUBLANC RIVAS 
(Mexico). 

AGENDA ITEM 30 

Question of South West Africa (continued) : 

(b) Report of the Committee on ~outh West 
Africa (A/2913 and Add.l and 2) (con
tinued) 

CoNSIDERATION OF DRAFT RESOLUTIONS (A/C.4/L.408, 
A/C.4/L.411, AjC.4jL.412) ( contiuued) 

1. The CHAIRMAN, recalling that the Committee 
had voted at the previous meeting on the draft reso
lution in document A/C.4/L.408 and on the amend~ 
ments submitted to it (A/C.4JL.411, A/C.4/L.412), 
invited delegations to explain their vote. 

2. Mr. BOROOAH (India) said that his country 
was one of the sponsors of the draft resolution in 
document A/C.4/L.408, first, because it was unwilling, 
whenever South West Africa was under discussion, 
to abandon the fundamental principles of the United 
Nations and, secondly, because it wished to take a 
conciliatory line. 

3. Turning to the amendments in documents A/C. 
4/L.411 and L.412, he pointed out that they did not 
affect the substance of the proposal. He therefore had 
had no difficulty in accepting them. Whatever the opi
nion of the representative of the Union of South 
Africa might be, he did not think that the admend
ments went beyond the terms of the Mandate. 
4. Mr. SAAB (Lebanon) explained that he had voted 
for the draft resolution because it provided a reason
able and equitable solution of a problem which the 
United Nations had been studying for many years 
without result. 
5. Mr. BELL (United States of America) said that 
he had abstained from voting on the admendments in 
documents A/C.4jL.411 and L.412, because they might 
have the effect of intensifying the opposition of the 
Union of South Africa. He concurred, however, in the 
gf:neral sense of the draft resolution, as amended, and 

179 

FOlJRm COMMITIEE, 500th 
MEETING 

Tuaday, 8 No.,ember 1955,. 
at 10.50 a.m. 

New York 

had accordingly voted for it. His delegation trusted 
that the parties concerned would succeed in negotiat~ 
ing a solution that would be in the interest of the 
people of South West Africa, the Union of South 
Africa and the United Nations. 
6. U ON SEIN (Burma) regretted that the South 
African Government had paid no heed to public opinion 
as represented by the international community or to 
the 1950 advisory opinion of the International Court 
of J ustice.1 Burma could not subscribe to the thesis put 
forward by the Union of South Africa and deplored 
the fact that the resolutions hitherto adopted by the 
United Nations had not achieved their purpose. The 
United Nations had a legitimate interest in the wel
fare of the inhabitants of South West Africa, who were 
living under unfavourable political, economi~ and cul
tural conditions. 
7. Burma was opposed to the annexation of South 
Wust Africa. It upheld the previous resolution~ of the 
General Assembly and the advisory opinion of the . 
International Court of Justice. It objected. to the racial 
segregation to which the inhabitants of the Territory 
were subjected. Lastly, it desired South West Africa 
to be placed under the International Trusteeship Sys
tem. Those were the principles that had determined 
the Burmese delegation's vote on the various draft 
resolutions. 
8. Mr. S. S. LIU (China) said that he had been 
prepared to support the original text of the draft 
resolution in document A/C.4/L.408. As, however, 
he had been unable to vote for the amendments and 
as they had been adopted, he had been obliged to 
abstain on the draft resolution as a whole. 
9. Mr. CHAMANDI (Yemen) explained that he had 
voted for the draft resolution in document A/C.4(L. 
408, which safeguarded the rights of the people of 
the Territory and would facilitate a solution of the 
problem by the Committee on South West Africa. He 
appealed to the goodwill of the Union of South Africa 
and hoped that it would find it possible to accept the 
draft resolution, which could not but promote the 
interests of all the parties concerned. 
10. Mr. TURGEON (Canada) recalled that, although 
the opinions of the International Court of Justice were 
not binding, his Government regarded them as author
itative expressions of international law. Canada had 
accordingly voted for General Assembly resolution 
749 A (VIII), establishing the Committee on South 
West Africa in order to give effect to the Court's 
opinion of 1950. He would emphasize in that con
nexion that, until such time as an agreement was 
reached between the United Nations and South Africa, 
the Committee on South West Africa was to follow 
procedures in regard to petitions concerning conditions 

t International status of S,lUth-West A/rica, Advisory 
Opinion: I.C.J. Reports 1950, p. 128. (Transmitted to Mem
bers of the General Assembly by the Secretary-General by 
document A/1362). 

A/C.4/SR.500 



180 General Assembly - Tenth Session - Fourth Committee 

in that Territory that approximated as closely as pos- AGENDA ITEM 30 
sible those followed by the Permanent Mandates Com
mission. For that reason, the Canadian delegation had 
pressed at the ninth session for a clarification of the 
voting proc~dure adopted for the Committee's consid
eration of reports and petitions on that Territory 
(resolution 844 (IX), special rule F). Its concern 
that the decisions of the Fourth Committee and of 
the Committee on South West Africa should not 
derogate from the Court's original ruling on South 
West Africa was therefore understandable. 

11. The Canadian delegatkn had therefore felt com
pelled to vote against paragraph 2 of the amendments 
~n document A/C.4/L.411 because it would give the 
United Nations more extensive control over South 
West Africa than the Court had envisaged in its opin
ion of 1950. Like a number of other delegations, the 
Canadian delegation also believed that it was necessary 
in the interest of the peoples of South West Africa 
to obtain the administering Power's co-operation, and 
that was why it had voted against the amendment in 
paragraph 1 of document A/C.4/L.411. The Canadian 
delegation had accordingly abstained on the draft reso
lution as a whole, and the remarks just offered would 
guide it in its attitude towards the future activities of 
the Committee on South West Africa. 

12. While he regretted that he could not subscnbe to 
all the conclusions of the Committee on South West 
Africa-a fact which explained his delegation's abs
tention on the amendment contained in document A/C. 
4 JL.412-he paid a tribute to its conscientious and 
painstaking efforts as well as to its evident concern 
for the well-being of the peoples of South West Africa. 

13. Miss SHELTON (Cuba) recalled that her Gov
ernment had consistently supported the Committee 
on South West Africa and had always wished to see 
South West Africa placed under the Trusteeship Sys
tem. That was why the Cuban delegation had voted 
for the draft resolution and for the amendments to 
it. It hoped for a change of heart in the Union of 
South Africa. 

AGENDA ITEM 13 

----· - .. _. . -· . '~ -- -- -· 
Report of the Trusteeship Connell (A/2933, A/ 

C.4/L.389) (continued) 
r• •' .1 . ._.~.._~-..._-~ ... ~-..-..-•·w&..-,e• ·-u 4 .• J. •, ··-

14. The CHAIRMAN invited the Committee to con
sider the draft resolution in document A/C.4/L.389, 
submitted by El Salvador. 

15. Mr. EGUIZABAL (El Salvador) said that his 
delegation's draft resolution no longer served any use
ful purpose at the present stage of the Committee's 
work. He wished, however, to make clear that its pur
pose had been to facilitate the Fourth Committee's 
work and not to pass judgment on the work of other 
bodies. He would not press the draft resolution, but 
requested that the documents of the Trusteeship Coun
cil relating to the attainment by the Trust Territories 
0f the objective of self-government or independence 
(T/L.500, TJL.579 and Add.1, T/L.591, T/L.602, TJ 
L.609, T JL.617) should be made available to members 
of the Committee. 

There being no objection it was so decided. 

Question of South West Africa (continued): 
(b) Report of the Committee on South West 

Africa (A/2913 and Add.l and 2) (eon· 
tinued) 

QUESTION OF THE ADMISSIBILITY OF ORAL HEARINGS 

(A/2913/ Add. 2) 
16. The CHAIRMAN invited the Committee to con
sider the report (A/2913/Add.2) on the admissibility 
of oral hearings on South West Africa. As the Com
mittee on South West Africa stated in paragraph 4 
of that report, it had received a request for a hearing 
from a person who stated that he was an indigenous 
inhabitant of the Territory. That was the first such 
request that the Committee on South West Africa 
had received. As the Committee was bound to adhere 
as closely as possible to the procedure of the former 
Mandates System, he briefly summarized that proced
ure as outlined in paragraph 6 of the report. 
17. Mr. ESPINOSA Y PRIETO (Mexico) said 
that in the present case his delegation took the advisory 
opinion of the International Court of Justice as its 
guide. It felt that the Committee on South West Africa 
should also do so as far as possible, in order to remove 
all doubt as to the legality of the procedure followed. 
18. It would be wise to make that procedure similar 
to that of the Mandates Commission, which meant that 
only petitions in writing would be accepted. However, 
as suggested in document A/2913/ Add.2, petitioners 
would be able to have informal interviews with the 
Chairman or members of the Committee on South 
West Africa. 
19. 1\tiiss BROOKS (Liberia) thought that the con
clusion to be draw11 from paragraph 6 of document 
A/2913/ Add. 2 was that it would be the Chairman 
of the Committee on South West Africa who would 
interview petitioners and report to the Fourth Com
mittee on such interviews. 
20. Mr. BELL (United States of America) asso
ciated himself fully with the statement by the Mexican 
representative. The General Assembly would be wise 
to adhere strictly to the advisory opinions given by 
the International Court of Justice in 1950 and in 19552 

with regard to South West Africa. 
21. When the General Assembly, in its resolution 
844 (IX), had adopted special rules of procedure for 
the examination of reports and petitions relating to 
South West Africa, it had not dealt explicitly with 
the question of oral hearings. It had, however, stated 
in that resolution that, in adopting those special rules, 
it had had in mind the 1950 advisory opinion of the 
Court and that it had desired to apply, as far as 
possible, the procedure followed in the matter by the 
Council of the League of Nations. 
22. As the Committee on South West Africa had 
pointed out, there had been no provision for oral 
hearings in the rules of procedure of the Permanent 
Mandates Commission. Moreover, although members 
of the Permanent Mandates Commission were individ·· 
ually entitled to hear persons who applied to them for 
an interview, the Commission itself had not considered 
it its duty to hear petitioners. Nor had the Council 
of the League of Nations ever heard petitioners. 

2 South-~Vest Africa-Voting Procedure, Advisory Opinion 
of June 7th, 1955: I.C.J. Reports 1955, p. 67. (Transmitted 
to Members of the General Assembly by the Secretary
General by document A/2918). 



500th meeting - 8 Sovember 1955 181 

23. His delegation therefore agreed that, if the Gen
eral Assembly decided to hear petitioners concerning 
South West Africa, it would not be cmnplying with 
the advisory opinion given by the International Court 
of Justice in 1950. In taking a position against oral 
hearings in the case of South West Africa, his dele
gation wished to make clear that it had no intention 
of d~nying to the people of that Territory the right 
to present their grievances to the United Nations. It 
supported that right, and for that reason had partici
pated in the examination of petitions from the Terri
tory and had supported draft resolutions containing 
rt·commendations on the problems raised in those peti
tions. Moreover, the United States representative in 
the Committee on South \Vest Africa had expressly 
stated that he favoured inviting the petitioner in 
question, Mr. Getzen, to submit his views concerning 
the Territory in writing. 

24. His delegation felt, however, that if the General 
Assembly decided to hear petitioners present their 
problems orally, it would seriously weaken the position 
it had taken up in its efforts to establish an effective 
system of international supervision over the adminis
tration of South \Vest Africa. Thus, much as it sym
pathized with Mr. Getzen's desire to be heard, it felt 
that it would be in the interests of the people of South 
\Vest Africa if the Assembly took the same position 
as the Committee on South \Vest Africa and decided 
to ask Mr. Getzen and other petitioners interested in 
that Territory to submit their views in writing. By so 
doing, the General Assembly would better enable the 
lJ nited Nations to promote the advancement of the 
people of that Territory on a regular basis. 

25. Mr. KHOMAN (Thailand) said that in the Com
mittee on South \Vest Africa his delegation had taken 
the same position as some other delegations, that of 
Mexico in particular. It felt that from a legal point 
of view it was preferable to adhere to the advisory 
opinion of the International Court of Justice. From a 
practical point of ,·iew, it likewise considered that the 
present circumstances did not require the Committee 
on South \Vest Africa to grant hearings; it was suffi
cient for it to receive petitions in writing. The same 
applied to the Fourth Committee. 
26. :Miss ROESAD (Indonesia) recalled that her 
delegation had always upheld the principle of granting 
hearings to the inhabitants of all Trust Territories. It 
did not think it proper to make an exception in the 
case of the peoples of South \Vest Africa. Like other 
dele"gations, howeYer, it felt that the General Assembly 
should adhere to the advisory opinion of the Court 
and follow the procedure of the former :Mandates 
System. 1 t therefure accepted the suggestion in para
~raph 6 of document A/2913/ Add. 2 that the Chair
man of the Committee on South \Vest Africa should 
hear petitioners or their representatives. The Fourth 
Committee should be informed of the results of those 
hearings through a report by the Committee on South 
\Vest Africa. 
27. Mr. HARARI (Israel) pointed out that the Per
manent Mandates Commission was verv different from 
the Committee on South \Vest Africa: That Commis
~ion had been composed of specialists who did not 
represent their Governments, but sat permanently in 
their individual capacity. The Covenant of the League 
uf Nations contained no provisions concerning peti
tions: such provisions were the subject of a paragraph 
in t·ach Mandate. Moreover, the rules of procedure 

of the Mandates Commission had been adopted some 
thirtv years previously, and he wondered whether that 
body would adopt the same rules of procedure today 
having regard to the considerably changed outlook on 
such matters. 
28. \Vhile he felt that the solution proposed by the 
Mexican representative was the best, he wondered how 
it would be possible to reconcile the opinion of th<" 
Intnnational Court of Justice with the task that now 
had tu be dune. Moreover, it \\ras not sufficient, in order 
to come as close as possible to the procedure of the 
Mandates Commission, merely to authorize the Chair
man of the Committee on South \Vest Africa to receive 
petitioners. That Commission had reported to the 
League of Nations. He wondered. who wo':lld report 
to the General Assembly on the mformal mtervtews 
granted to petitioners. 
29. His delegation felt that the situation was becom
ing increasingly confused as a result. ?f the fact that 
South West Africa was regarded nettner as a Trust 
Territory nor altogether as a mandated territory, and 
as a result of the adoption of compromise solutions. 
It would therefore abstain when a vote was taken. 
30. 1-Ir. S. S. LIU (China) agreed with the repre
sentatives of Mexico and the United States. In view 
of the fact that the General Assembly had requested 
two advisory opinions on S~uth \\Test ~frica from ~e 
International Court of Justtce, the Chmese delegatu;m 
was of the opinion that the Assembly should act m 
conformity with the opinions of the Court,. which had 
expressed itself very clearly on the questiOn o.f pro
cedure in stating that the methods to be apphed by 
the Committee on South West Africa and the General 
Assembly should conform as far as possible to the 
procedure followed by the League of Nations. 
31. The Chinese delegation had abstained from voting 
in fa\·our of the rules adopted by the General Assem
bly at its ninth session .< re~olution 84;4. (IX)) because, 
in permitting the exammat10n of petttlons and rei><?rts 
without the participation of the Union of South Afnca, 
the General Assembly had clearly deviated from the 
line of action required by the advisory opinion of the 
Court. The same could be said in the present case. 

32. If therefore, the General Assembly wished to 
O'ive effect to the Court's advisory opinion, it must 
decide that requests for hearings concerning the Terri
tory of South \Vest Africa were not admissible. 

33. Mr. JASPER (United Kingdom) reminded the 
representative of Isra~l that the Counc!l of the Le~gue 
of Nations had constdered the questwn of hearmgs 
at the first meeting of its forty-fourth session, on 7 
.March 1927.3 The Fourth Committee might perhaps 
think it advisable to have the text of the record of that 
meeting of the. Council distr.ibuted to i.ts members. 
During the meetmg, the Council had exammed a report 
by the rapporteur and had decided not to press the 
question or oral hearings further. 

34. Since other delegations had already admitted that 
the views of the Mandates Commission and the Coun
cil of the League of Nations were important in that 
connexion, and since, in its advisory opinion, the Inter
national Court of Justice had stated that the procedure 
to be followed should conform as far as possible to 
the procedure followed by the organs of the League 

a League of Nations, Official Jounsal, 8th Year, No. 4, 
p. 348. 



182 General Asaembly - Tenth Session - Fourth Committee 

of Nations, he hoped that the decision taken by the 
Council of the League of Nations in 1927 dispelled 
the Israel representative's misgivings regarding the 
confusing results of following a procedure adopted 
shortly after 1920. 

35. The United Kingdom delegation was therefore 
of the opinion that the method recommended by the 
Court was the wisest and most constructive, and it 
hoped the Committee would not press the question 
of the admissibility of requests for hearings. 

36. Mr. RIVAS (Venezuela) said he agreed to some 
extent with the representative of Israel. Ideas on the 
administration of dependent territories were no longer 
the same as in the time of the League of Nations. 
Hence, it was difficult to apply a system analogous to 
the Mandates System. 

37. The delegation of Venezuela was, however, pre
pared to respect the opinion of the deleg1.tions of 
1\fexico, Thailand and the United States, which were 
members of the Committee on South West Africa, and 
consequently to support the pr Jposal that hearings 
should not be granted. But it wondered how the General 
Assembly was going to make a recommendation to that 
effect to the Committee on South West Africa. In its 
opinion, the only practical course would be either to 
recommend an amendment to rule XIV (c) of the pro
visional rules of procedure adopted by the Committee 
on South West Africa on 11 February 1954 (A/2666 
and Corr. 1, annex II), or to give the Committee 
explicit ii1structions in the matter. 

38. Mr. RYCKMANS (Belgium) said that the Per
manent Mandates Commission ~ad not granted hear
ings properly so-called; while it had been understood 
that the members of the Commission could interview 
petitioners, it had been the Chairman's duty to inform 
petitioners that their statements could not be officially 
recognized. 

39. Mr. HARARI (Israel) pointed out, with refer
ence to the United Kingdom representative's state
ment, that it had been in 1927 that the Council of the 
League of Nations had studied the question ; it would 
perhaps have reached different conclusions today, 
when the community of nations had decided tC> replace 
the Mandates System by a Trusteeship System in 
order to take account of the evolution of ideas in the 
world. 
40. Miss BROOKS (Liberia) maintained that para
graph 6, to which the Chairman had referred, did not 
mean that reqL:ests for hearings were inadmissible. 

41. Mr. SAAB (Lebanon) said his country was 
anxious to facilitate a solution of the problem 
represented by South West Africa. The Territory 
was, however, a former mandated territory, and as he 
knew from experience the defects of the Mandates 
System so far as hearings were concerned, he could 

, not agree to the retention of that system. To apply 
the procedure followed by the Permanent Mandates 
Commission would be to risk remaining static in a 
dynamic situation. Furti1ermore, he questioned the 
wisdom of adhering c;trictly to an opinion of the 
International Court of Justice which was not accepted 
by all the parties concerned. The Lebanese delega
tion would therefore abstain. 
42. Mr. SOLE (Union of South Africa) described 
his country's position in the matter. In the first 
place, the Union of South Africa did not recogmze 

the competence of the United Nat ions to cons ide 
petitions, whether written or oral. In the second plac~ 
the system established by the Charter m~de no prov 
sion for oral petitions except in the case of Trw 
Territories. Lastly, there had undoubtedly been 11 
provisions for hearings in the procedure applied by n 
League of Nations, and the Permanent Mandatt 
Commission in particular had not granted any hearin~ 
properly so-called. As the representative of BelgiUJ 
had pointed out, interviews uetween members of n 
Permanent Mandates Commission or its Chairman an 
petitioners had been of a private nature and cou1 
not be officially recognized. Moreover, the terms ( 
the Mandates had differed considerably, according 1 
whether they were "A", "B" or "C" Mandate~ 
while the possibility of hearings had arisen in the ca~ 
of "A" Mandates, they had never come into questic 
in the case of "C" Mandates. 

43. The CHAIRMAN invited members of the Con 
mittee who might be considering submitting a dra 
resolution to do so. 

44. Mr. RYCKMANS (Belgium) did not thir 
a draft resolution was necessary. The Committee c 
South West Africa had asked the Fourth Committ1 
to say whether or not requests for hearings we 
admissible. It was enough to put the question to tl 
vot~. 

45. Mr. RIVAS (Venezuela) disagreed. If reques 
for hearings were not in future to be referred to tl 
General Assembly, special permission would have 
be obtained from the Assembly to amend section D 1 

the provisional rules of procecure of the Colilmitt 
on South West Africa. 

46. Mr. KHOMAN (Thailand) observed that tl 
Chairman and members of the Committee on Sou 
VI est Africa would always be able to interview a1 
one they wished, without obtaining the permissic 
of the Fourth Committee. What the Committee c 
South West Africa had asked the Fourth Committ 
to do was to decide whether requests for official hea 
ings were admissible. The point now at issue w 
whether the Committee should take a decision by 
simple vote or by a vote on a draft resolution. He hit 
self would prefer the meeting to be adjourned so tb 
a draft resolution could be prepared. 

47. Mr. RIFAI (Syria) recalled the position tak 
by his delegation in the Committee on South W( 
Africa. While Syria had not considered that :N 
Getzen should be given a hearing, it had not co1 
mitted itself on the general principle of the admis 
bility of requesi.s for hearings by the Committee 
South West Africa or the General Assembly. It shot 
be emphasized that the International Court of J usti 
had not expressed the view that the United Natio 
should s~rictly apply the Mandates System ; in t 
advisory opinion it had given in 19SO, it had s:: 
that the degree of supervision to be exercised by t 
General Assembly should conform "as far as possibl 
to the procedure followed by the Council of i 
League of Nations. Again, in 1955 instead of calli 
upon the United Nations to observe the unanim 
:rule applied by the Council of the League of N atio: 
tbe Court had authorized the United Nations to apt 
the two-thirds majority rule. 

.c,8. He would like to have time to study the questi 
more thoroughly so as to clarify his views and presc 
a draft resolution in the afternoon. 



500th meeting - 8 November 1955 183 

49. Mr. VERGARA (Chile) said he would not like The motion was adopted by 29 votes to none, with 
to cast a hasty vote which might be prejudicial to 16 abstentions. 
the objective of emancipation laid down in the Charter. 
He formally moved the adjournment of the meeting. The meeting rose at 12.20 p.m. 

Printed in Canada A-n401-December 1955-2,325 




